# MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING OF THE BEN HILL COUNTY COMMISSIONERS HELD ON JANUARY 03, 2023 AT 6:00 PM IN THE BEN HILL COUNTY COURTHOUSE ANNEX

Those present for the meeting were as follows:

Steve Taylor Chairman
Hope Harmon Vice-Chair
Bennie Calloway Commissioner
Daniel Cowan Commissioner
John Mooney Commissioner
Michael Dinnerman
Donna R. Prather County Manager
County Clerk

#### Call to Order

Chairman Steve Taylor called the meeting to order and gave the invocation.

Everyone gave the Pledge of Allegiance.

## Approval of the Agenda/Agenda Changes

Commissioner Bennie Calloway made a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Vice-Chair Hope Harmon seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner Bennie Calloway, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

# **Acceptance of Prior Minutes**

Vice-Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to approve the Regular Monthly Meeting minutes that was held on December 06, 2022. Commissioner Bennie Calloway seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner Bennie Calloway, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Vice-Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to approve the Special Called Meeting minutes that was held on December 15, 2022. Commissioner Bennie Calloway seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner Bennie Calloway, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Vice-Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to approve the Special Called Meeting minutes that was held on December 21, 2022. Commissioner Bennie Calloway seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner Bennie Calloway, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Commissioner John Mooney entered the meeting.

Chairman Steve Taylor changed the order of the meeting agenda by moving Public Comments after the Acceptance of Prior Minutes due to the large audience.

#### **Public Comments:**

William Gleaton, 529 Bowens Mill Highway, stated he is continuing to pay school taxes. He requested the Commissioners put a referendum on the ballot for all citizens that are 65 years and older to they would no longer pay school taxes. He also request affirmation from the Commissioners regarding his request.

Ron Brown, 181 Buck Road, stated there are counties that give options to pay school taxes. It needs to be voluntary. He asked if they need a petition or can the Commission affirm the request? Mr. Brown stated he would like to see the option because things are becoming more expensive.

County Attorney Nick Kinsley explained their request needs State approval. Mr. Kinsley also stated the Commissioners do not have legal recourse to put their request on a ballot.

The discussion continued with others in audience, County Manager Michael Dinnerman, and the Commissioners

# **Required Annual Actions:**

Commissioner John Mooney made a motion to rehire County Manager Michael Dinnerman. Vice-Chair Hope Harmon seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner John Mooney, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Commissioner John Mooney made a motion to rehire County Clerk Donna Prather. Vice-Chair Hope Harmon seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner John Mooney, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Vice-Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to rehire County Attorney Hall, Smith & Booth Managing Partner Tony Rowell working with Nick Kinsley. Commissioner John Mooney seconded the motion; which passed with Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Commissioner John Mooney made a motion to rehire Tony Eckler CPA Auditing Firm. Vice-Chair Hope Harmon seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner John Mooney, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Vice-Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to approve Colony Bank, Community Bank, & Local Investment Pool as the County Financial Institutes. Commissioner John Mooney seconded the motion; which passed with Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Vice-Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to approve the Herald Leader as the County Legal Organ. Commissioner Daniel Cowan seconded the motion; which passed with Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Commissioner John Mooney nominated Commissioner Hope Harmon for Vice-Chair.

Commissioner John Mooney made a motion to close the nominations. Commissioner Daniel Cowan seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, Chairman Steve Taylor, and Vice-Chair Hope Harmon all voting for the motion.

## **Constitutional Officer: NONE**

## **Department Head Reports:**

DLS Director Keith Morris reported basketball has started with 10 kids registered. Registrations was good. They received \$2400 from the Hawk grant. This able DLS to reduce registration by \$15 per child.

Baseball and Softball registration will start in the middle of this month.

The lights at Lion Park has been installed.

**County Board Reports: NONE** 

County Manager's Report: NONE

## **Annexation Request:**

City of Fitzgerald sent notification of annexation of 4.87 acres, in the fourth land district of Ben Hill County, adjacent to 330 Ocilla Hwy (old Turkey Creek), to annex said property to the existing city limits of Fitzgerald and to rezone the said property from GF County to GB City.

**Rezoning Application: NONE** 

**Alcohol Application: NONE** 

**Appointments: NONE** 

Old Business: NONE

#### **New Business:**

# Board of Assessors Reappointment/Jeffrey Smith

Commissioner Daniel Cowan made a motion to reappoint Jeffrey Smith to the Board of Assessors. Vice-Chair Hope Harmon seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

# 2022 Budget Amendment Resolution

Vice- Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to adopt the 2022 Budget Amendment Resolution. Commissioner Daniel Cowan seconded the motion; which passed with Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

#### Tax Commissioner Authority to Waive Penalties & Interest Resolution

Vice- Chair Hope Harmon made a motion to adopt the Tax Commissioner Authority to Waive Penalties & Interest Resolution. Commissioner Daniel Cowan seconded the motion; which passed with Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

Authorizing the Tax Commissioner to Accept Payments of Taxes and Fees Resolution

Commissioner Daniel Cowan made a motion to adopt the Authorizing the Tax Commissioner to Accept Payments of Taxes and Fees Resolution. Vice-Chair Hope Harmon seconded the motion; which passed with Commissioner Daniel Cowan, Vice-Chair Hope Harmon, Commissioner John Mooney, Commissioner Bennie Calloway, and Chairman Steve Taylor all voting for the motion.

# DLS Board Vacancy/Jeremy Cox

Chairman Steve Taylor stated he received a letter of resignation from Jeremy Cox. Therefore, DLS Board has a vacancy. He asked the Commissioners to work on a replacement for Mr. Cox for February Regular Monthly meeting.

Agenda Changes and/or add on: NONE

Legislative Report: NONE

# The State of the County

Once again, thank you for the opportunity to share the present State of Ben Hill County. It is important for the community to know if the county government is healthy, stable, and able to function adequately to provide the services to her community. However, is reflecting on the true state of the County based on what we have done and how we have progressed, or in the ability to achieve short term and long-term goals and be prepared for the unknown? The standard parameters used to determine a government's health are the financial position, management, and policies and procedures. I feel these are important, but I submit the true state of Ben Hill County and our community is determined by our ability to operate tomorrow.

In evaluating the financial position of Ben Hill County, I can share that we continue to progress toward our goals of building a stronger reserve and being fiscally responsible with the tax payor's money. There are decisions made in which some may not agree with, but these decisions are guided toward maintaining a strong financial position and having funds available to meet the needs of our community. Through exceptional leadership of County Manager, Mike Dinnerman, we continue to advance the health of your county government.

One can find the following words in last year's address: "We as a commission recognize that in everything we do, or every decision we make, we must be focused on investing in the people of our community. Our people are our greatest resource for our future. We build our future based on the foundation we establish now, because we understand a strong foundation will stand the test of time. We are committed to making the effort to move beyond the current or existing state. We commit to you that we will continuously strive to improve because status quo is not acceptable." Those words continue to be applicable today and are the driving force in our decision making.

We continue to achieve goals and set new ones. Mr. Dinnerman continually evaluates our assets and makes recommendations regarding replacing or upgrading with the idea of providing the most effective and efficient services that are in the best interest for our citizens' safety and well-being. Some highlights of this past year include infrastructure updates in Information Technology upgrades, road improvements throughout the county, and EMS upgrades. Upgrading software and computers is now a necessity in local government. These upgrades allow for better service as well as enhanced security. We have plans in place to meet this need. Paving projects included paving or resurfacing all or part of 34 roads this year and plans to replace bridges. This represents the largest number of paving projects in one year as compared to the previous 10 years. Also, we entered into a contract with Ameripro for emergency ambulance service. Mr. Dinnerman has previously stated, "AmeriPro brings the citizens of Ben Hill County much needed new equipment, superb management, higher wages and benefits for employees. They also will provide real time tracking that interface with our 911 Center, along with a new sense of professionalism and a focus on excellent patient care for our citizens."

The County shares several joint services with the City of Fitzgerald. We feel through a collaborative effort the community can be better served. The relationship between the City and County is a cornerstone of meeting the needs of our citizens. I continue to be grateful for the relationship I share with my friend, Mayor Jason Holt, and I look forward to working with him as we have a better tomorrow.

As noted, I have focused on the future of this community with the above remarks. We are at an important crossroads where improvements community wide need to be addressed. Most of these are related to vehicles, equipment, and infrastructure which allow our employees to serve the community in the safest and most efficient manor. Over the past six years both the City of Fitzgerald and Ben Hill County have been able to use Special Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) toward improving infrastructure and assets. In a community our size, both entities would struggle to provide the necessary services without the availability of SPLOST funds. A few examples of the use of these funds include: maintaining and upgrading the fleet of vehicles for our law enforcement officers; heavy machinery including garbage trucks, tractors, and road equipment; upgrading facilities including the E911 building and dispatch equipment; providing new lighting at the Lions Club Park allowing safer conditions for our children to participate in recreational activities; Paulk Park paving; playground equipment at the Monitor Center; and the above mentioned road resurfacing and paving projects.

In March of 2023, we as a community have the opportunity to strengthen the position of the City and County by passing the SPLOST. It will basically be a renewal of a one cent sales tax that is currently in place. These funds will assist in the continued pursuit of improving and strengthening the foundation necessary to allow government to be viable and sustainable now and in the future. Our tomorrow depends on it.

Please note that your County Commission makes decisions with your best interest in mind. We work together with management to make sure the citizens are served while we maintain a good financial position. We review policies and procedures and make proper adjustments as recommended to provide for a stable and consistent operation of county government. We feel the current State of Ben Hill County is encouragingly strong and would not be possible without the dedication and hard work of management, administration, Constitutional Officers, judges, department heads and each and every employee. As always, the commission and I are honored to serve this community.

As we enter into 2023, I am encouraged about our future. As a small community in rural south Georgia we have a lot to be thankful for.

The tomorrow of our community looks promising because of valid and functional working governments, the businesses and industries that have invested in us, the hard-working employees, volunteers, and elected officials that serve our community, and most importantly, the people that live and work in our community.

It is an honor to serve and to work toward a better tomorrow, God Bless our country and community,

Steve Taylor, Chairman, Ben Hill County Board of Commissioners

#### **Executive Session**

Commissioner's Remarks: NONE	
Meeting adjourned	
	_ Steve Taylor, Chairman
	Donna R. Prather, County Clerk